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ARCHITECTURAL DATA FORM
STATE COUNTY TOWN OR VICINITY
South Carolina Pickens Clemson
HISTORIC NAME OF STRUCTURE (INCLUDE SOURCE FOR NAME) HABS NO.
Fort Hill, Kitchen SC-344B

SECONDARY OR COMMON NAMES OF STRUCTURE

McElhenny-Calhoun-Clemson House, Kitchen

COMPLETE ADDRESS (DESCRIBE LOCATION FOR RURAL SITES)

Clemson University Campus

DATE OF CONSTRUCTION (/INCLUDE SOURCE) ARCHITECT(S) (INCLUDE SOURCE)
1938 (reconstructian) Unknown

SIGNIFICANCE (ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL, INCLUDE ORIGINAL USE OF STRUCTURE)

This reconstruction was designed to suggest the type of kitchen which might have been a
part of the Fort Hill camplex. Various parts of the fabric of the building were taken
fram period buildings, notably the kitchen at Altamont, original location of the oyen and

fireplace,
STYLE (/F APPROPRIATE) <
Vernacular
MATERIAL OF CONSTRUCTION (/NCLUDE STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS)
Log, sheathed in clapboards

SHAPE AND DIMENSIONS OF STRUCTURE (SKETCHED FLOOR PLANS ON SEPARATE PAGES ARE ACCEPTABLE)
Rectangular; apprax. 18' x 24'; one story; gable roof

EXTERIOR FEATURES OF NOTE
A covered breezeway at the east end comnects the kitchen and the house.

INTERIOR FEATURES OF NOTE (DESCRIBE FLOOR PLANS, IF NOT SKETCHED)
Exposed log walls; fireplace and bake oven (ca. 1820) fram nearby Altamont plantation.

MAJOR ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS WITH DATES

PRESENT CONDITION AND USE

Part of Fort Hill historic house museum camplex.
OTHER INFORMATION AS APPROPRIATE

SOURCES OF INFORMATION (/NCLUDING LISTING ON NATIONAL REGISTER, STATE REGISTERS, ETC.)
Jart of the Fort Hill camplex, which is listed in the National Register of Historic Places.

COMPILER, AFFILIATION DATE
Druscilla J. Null, HABS 7/16/84
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This report is an addendum to a one page report previously transmitted to the Library of Congress in
1984.

Location: The Kitchen building sits in the Fort Hill complex that is, in turn, within the confines of
Clemson University. Clemson (both town and university) is located in Pickens County, South Carolina.

Description: The reconstructed kitchen is a one-story rectangle measuring about 20'0" x 21'0". Tradition
suggests it had a loft space above the work room. Resting on a brick and field stone foundation, the
wood frame is sheathed in clapboards with flush siding. Structurally, the kitchen is supported by
(exposed) hewn rafters. It is heated by one exterior end chimney made of brick and covered in stucco. A
domed top covers the chimney cap.

The kitchen has a gable roof with cedar shakes. A simple cornice wraps around the building.
There are two entrances into the kitchen; both have (vertical) board and batten doors. These entries are
in the south and east facades. Three windows light the kitchen. They are nine-over-nine double hung
sash. There are no shutters.

Inside, the kitchen consists of one room. Stone steps lead into the kitchen from the south side
door. The floor is made of stone. The interior is unfinished, leaving the hewn log construction exposed.
The ceiling is made from wood boards.

A covered breezeway (12'0" x 15'0") connects the kitchen structure to the main house.

History: Three successive kitchens served the Fort Hill plantation. The earliest known kitchen was
located inside Clergy Hall. The work space of the McElhenny era became an everyday dining room
when the Calhouns lived in the house. The Calhoun family constructed a detached kitchen building,
which freed up the former food preparation area inside the dwelling and allowed the Calhouns to use the
space in other ways. Outbuildings, such as the detached kitchen built during the Calhoun era, protected
the house from fire as well as decreased the heat, smells, and noise generated by cooking. The Calhoun
kitchen was dismantled by Clemson College around 1900.

The kitchen, seen on the premises today, is a reconstruction of the Calhoun’s detached kitchen
building. Construction of the present kitchen began in 1944 under the guidance of David Watson,
architect for the project. At the time, Watson was the Supervisor of Buildings and Grounds for the
college. Funding for the reconstruction effort was provided by the college and the United Daughters of
the Confederacy. Materials used in the kitchen project were taken from another site in close proximity.
The fireplace and Dutch oven, for example, were removed from Altamont II, a Pinckney plantation near
Pendleton. Tradition contends that slaves, who were skilled artisans (carpenters) working on the
Calhoun property, made the corner cupboard. This object was taken from an overseer’s dwelling on the
Calhoun plantation grounds and installed in the reconstructed kitchen. The food preparation vessels,
ironstone platters and bowls are original to Fort Hill.

The third kitchen at Fort Hill was in the basement of the house. It was used while Andrew
Pickens Calhoun lived there; Calhoun occupied Fort Hill from 1854 to 1865. Later the Clemsons utilized
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the basement kitchen, installing a cast-iron stove and labor saving devices such as dumb waiters.
Presently, this last kitchen space is a storage facility.

Sources: Materials used in the preparation of this report include artifacts discovered near the kitchen site,
such as an ironstone plate, historic photographs, and oral history accounts. One chronicle, for example,
was provided by Jane Prince, who was the Clemsons’ housekeeper. Also enlightening was a description
of the Fort Hill complex written by Patrick Calhoun.

Historian: William D. Hiott, Summer 1997.
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